

PART I CHARTER¹

PREAMBLE

We the people of the historic Town of Eatonville, Florida, the Oldest Incorporated Black Municipality in the United States, under the constitution and laws of the State of Florida, in order to provide the benefits of local government responsive to the will and values of our citizens, do hereby adopt this Charter to define the powers and structure of our government. By this action we enable our government to provide services and meet the needs of the people efficiently; allow fair and equitable participation of all residents in the affairs of the Town; provide for transparency, accountability, and ethics in governance; foster fiscal responsibility; promote prosperity and advance the quality of life; and, preserve our unique history for generations to come.

ARTICLE I. POWERS OF THE TOWN

Sec. 1.01. Powers of the Town.

The Town shall have all powers possible for a Municipality to have under the constitution and Laws of the state of Florida as fully and completely as though they were specifically enumerated in this Charter.

Sec. 1.02. Construction.

The powers of the Town under this Charter shall be construed liberally in favor of the Town, and the specific mention of particular powers in the Charter shall not be construed as limiting in any way the general power granted in this article.

Sec. 1.03. Intergovernmental relations.

The Town may participate by contract or otherwise with any governmental entity of this State or any other State or States or the United States in the performance of any activity which one or more of such entities has the authority to undertake.

Sec. 1.04. Corporate boundaries.

The corporate boundaries of the Town of Eatonville remain as they exist on the date this amended Charter takes effect, provided that the Town shall have the power to change its boundaries in the manner prescribed by

¹Editor's note(s)—Printed herein is the revised Charter of the Town of Eatonville, adopted by Ord. No. 2016-14 on October 18, 2016. Amendments are indicated by parenthetical history notes following amended provisions. The absence of a history note indicates that the provision remains unchanged from the original. Obvious misspellings have been corrected without notation. Additions made for clarity are indicated by brackets. The previous Charter derived from referendum adopted on March 7, 1998.

State law reference(s)—Municipal home rule, F.S. § 166.01 et seq.

law. A dated description of the boundaries is posted on the Town's website, is on file at the Town Hall, and is available to the public.

Sec. 1.05. Form of government.

The Town of Eatonville is a Municipal Corporation with a Mayor-Council form of Government.

ARTICLE II. TOWN COUNCIL

Sec. 2.01. General powers and duties.

All powers of the Town shall be vested in the Town Council, except as otherwise provided by law or this Charter, and the Council shall provide for the exercise thereof and for the performance of all duties and obligations imposed on the Town by law.

Sec. 2.02. Eligibility, terms, and composition.

- (a) *Eligibility.* Only registered voters of Orange County who have resided within the Town of Eatonville Town limits for twelve consecutive months prior to the date of qualifying shall be eligible to hold the office of Mayor or Council Member.
- (b) *Qualifying.* Any person who is eligible as set forth in Section 2.02(a) may become a candidate for nomination to the office of Mayor or to a Council seat by either: a) filing with the Town Clerk a petition subscribed to by not less than ten percent (10%) of the qualified electors of the Town who signed said petition not more than fourteen (14) days before the first day of qualifying; or b) paying the Town's prescribed qualifying fee as set by resolution.

A candidate seeking to qualify by petition must also file the signed and subscribed candidate oath nonpartisan office form, Sec. 99.021 F.S. together with the petition with the Town Clerk at any time after noon on the 14th day prior to the start of qualifying period but no later than noon the 10th day prior to the start of qualifying period. The Town Clerk shall promptly submit all timely filed candidate petitions to the Orange County Supervisor of Elections for certification as to elector status and residency. Each candidate for whom the Orange County Supervisor of Elections certifies residency, elector status, and the required number of petition signatures shall be eligible to qualify for election.

A candidate seeking to qualify by paying the Town's qualifying fee must pay same and file the signed and subscribed candidate oath nonpartisan office form, Sec. 99.021 F.S. with the Town Clerk before the qualifying period expires.

The first day of qualifying shall be any time after noon of the 50th day prior to the general Town election but not later than noon of the 46th day prior to the day of the general Town election. However, in any year which is a multiple of four and during which the general Town election is held concurrent with the Florida Presidential Preference Primary, the first day of qualifying shall be noon of the 80th day prior to the general Town election and the final day of qualifying shall be no later than noon of the 76th day prior to the election date. The Town Clerk shall post in Town hall notification of the date of the general Town election no later than ninety (90) days prior to the date of such general Town election.

- (c) *Terms.* The term of office of the Mayor and Council Members shall be four (4) years elected in accordance with Article V. The terms of all such persons shall commence at the first regularly scheduled Council meeting following the certification of election results by the Canvassing Board. All such elected officials shall hold office until their Successors have been elected and qualified or until their tenure of office has otherwise been terminated in accordance with law.

-
- (d) *Composition.* There shall be a Town Council composed of five (5) members, one of whom will qualify for and be designated as Mayor, elected by the voters of the Town, at large, in accordance with the provisions of Article V.

Sec. 2.03. Mayor; general duties.

The Mayor shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Town and shall be responsible to the electorate for the Administration of all Town affairs placed in the Mayor's charge by or under this Charter. The Mayor shall:

- (a) Appoint and suspend or remove all Town employees and appointive Administrative Officers provided for by or under this Charter. Department heads shall be appointed by the Mayor within one hundred twenty (120) days of any vacancy and confirmed by the Town Council. If the appointee is not confirmed by the Town Council at the end of the one-hundred-twenty (120) days, the appointee may serve on an interim basis for no more than one-hundred-eighty (180) days total, during which time the Mayor shall propose three (3) candidates for the open position, one of which may be the interim appointee, for confirmation by the Town Council. If no candidate is confirmed by the Town Council within the one-hundred-eighty (180) day period, the Mayor may appoint and confirm a candidate from among the three (3) who will fill the position on a permanent basis. The Mayor may authorize any administrative officer who is subject to the Mayor's direction and supervision to exercise these powers with respect to subordinates in that officer's department, office, or agency,
- (b) Direct and supervise the administration of all departments, offices, and agencies of the Town, except as otherwise provided by this Charter or law;
- (c) Chair and be a voting member of the Town Council;
- (d) See that all laws, provisions of this Charter and acts of the Town Council, subject to enforcement by the Mayor or by officers subject to the direction and supervision of the Mayor, are faithfully executed;
- (e) Prepare, or have prepared, and submit the annual budget, budget message, and capital program to the Town Council and implement the final budget approved by Council to achieve the goals of the Town;
- (f) Submit to the Town Council and make available to the public a complete report on the finances and administrative activities of the town as of the end of each fiscal year;
- (g) Make such other reports as the Town Council may require concerning operations;
- (h) Keep the Town Council fully advised as to the financial condition and future needs of the town;
- (i) Encourage and provide staff support for regional and intergovernmental cooperation; and
- (j) Promote partnerships among Council, staff, and citizens in developing public policy and building a sense of community.

Sec. 2.04. Vice Mayor.

A Vice Mayor will be elected by the Town Council annually from among its members no later than the second regular Council meeting in March. The Vice Mayor will assume the duties of Mayor in the Mayor's absence.

Sec. 2.05. Compensation; expenses.

The Town Council may determine the annual salary of the Mayor and Council Members by Ordinance, but no Ordinance. The Mayor and Council Members shall receive their actual and necessary expenses incurred in the performance of their duties of office.

Sec. 2.06. Prohibitions.

- (a) *Holding other office.* Except where authorized by law, neither the Mayor nor any Council Member shall hold any other elected public office during the term for which the Mayor or Member was elected to the Council. No Council Member shall hold any other Town of Eatonville office or employment during the term for which the Mayor or Member was elected to the Council.

Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit the Council from selecting any current or former Council Member to represent the Town on the governing board of any regional or other intergovernmental agency.

- (b) *Appointments and removals.* Neither the Town Council nor any of its Members shall in any manner control or demand the appointment or removal of any Town administrative officer or employee whom the Mayor or any subordinate of the Mayor is empowered to appoint, but the Council may express its views and fully and freely discuss with the Mayor anything pertaining to appointment and removal of such officers and employees.
- (c) *Interference with administration.* The Council or its Members shall deal with town officers and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the Mayor solely through the Mayor, and neither the Council nor its Members shall give orders to any such officer or employee, either publicly or privately.

Sec. 2.07. Vacancies; forfeiture of office; filling of vacancies.

- (a) *Vacancies.* The office of the Mayor or a Council Member shall become vacant upon the member's death, resignation, suspension, or removal from office or forfeiture of office in any manner authorized by law.
- (b) *Forfeiture of office.* The Mayor and Council Members shall forfeit that office if the Mayor or Council member:
- (1) Fails to maintain the residency requirements as set forth in Section 2.02(a);
 - (2) Violates any express prohibition of this Charter;
 - (3) Is convicted of a crime involving a felony; or
 - (4) Fails to attend four (4) consecutive regular meetings of the Council without being excused by the Council.
 - (5) A member charged with conduct constituting grounds for forfeiture of office shall be entitled to a public hearing on demand and notice of such hearing shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the town at least one calendar week in advance of the hearing.
- (c) *Filling of vacancies.* Should a vacancy in the office of Town Council occur when there are (60) days or less left in the unexpired term, no appointment shall be made and that vacancy will be filled at the next regular municipal election. Should a vacancy occur when there are more than sixty (60) days left in the unexpired term that vacancy shall be filled by the Town Council within thirty (30) days of the date of the vacancy with any qualified resident so appointed to serve until a successor is elected at the next regular municipal election.

If a vacancy is not filled by the Town Council within thirty (30) days after the vacancy occurs as described above, a special election shall be held within ninety (90) days after such vacancy occurs or as soon thereafter as such election may be held; and the person so elected shall serve the remaining unexpired term of office.

Should a vacancy occur in the office of Mayor, the Vice Mayor will assume the office of Mayor until the next regular Municipal election. If there is time remaining in the term of the Vice Mayor after the election, the Vice Mayor shall return to the Council to fill the remainder of the term.

-
- (d) *Extraordinary vacancies.* In the event that all council members are removed by death, disability, resignation, or forfeiture of office, or any combination thereof, the governor shall appoint interim Council Members who shall call a special election within not fewer than thirty (30) days or more than sixty (60) days after such appointment. Such election shall be held in the same manner as the elections under this Charter. Appointees must meet the all requirements for candidates as provided in this Charter.

Sec. 2.08. Judge of qualifications.

The Town Council shall be the judge of the election and qualifications of its members and of the grounds for forfeiture of their office.

Sec. 2.10. Procedure.

- (a) *Meetings.* The Town Council shall meet regularly at least once in every month at such times and places as the Council may prescribe by rule. Special meetings may be held on the call of the Mayor or of two (2) or more Members and, when practicable, upon no less than twenty-four (24) hours' notice to each Member. Emergency Meetings: The Mayor or any two (2) members of the council may convene an emergency council meeting upon reasonable notice of such meeting given to each council member. The first order of business at an emergency council meeting shall be the determination, by affirmative vote of at least three (3) members of the Council that an emergency situation involving health, safety, or public welfare warranting council action exists. Only matters relating to the emergency may be considered at the emergency meeting and any action taken at such meeting must be approved by at least three (3) members of the Council, except for emergency ordinances which shall be adopted in accordance with state law.
- (b) *Rules and minutes.* The Town Council shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall provide for keeping digital minutes of its proceedings.
- (c) *Quorum.* Three (3) members of the Council shall constitute a quorum. No action of the Council shall be valid or binding unless adopted by the affirmative vote of three (3) or more members of the Council.

Sec. 2.11. Ordinances in general.

All ordinances, including emergency ordinances shall be adopted pursuant to Section 166.041, Florida Statutes, as amended. Every adopted ordinance shall become effective as provided in the body of the ordinance.

ARTICLE III. DEPARTMENTS, OFFICES, AND AGENCIES

Sec. 3.01. General provisions.

- (a) *Creation of departments.* The Town Council may establish Town departments, offices, or agencies in addition to those created by this Charter, and may prescribe the functions of all departments, offices, and agencies. No function assigned by this Charter to a particular department, office, or agency may be discontinued or, unless this Charter specifically so provides, assigned to any other.
- (b) *Direction by mayor.* All Departments, offices, and agencies under the direction and supervision of the Mayor shall be administered by an officer appointed by and subject to the direction and supervision of the Mayor.
- (c) *Grievance process.* The Town Council shall establish and maintain a written grievance process for all town employees.

Sec. 3.02. Town Clerk.

The Town Council shall appoint an officer of the town who shall have the title of Town Clerk. The Town Clerk shall not be in the classified service of the Town and shall not be subject to the civil service laws affecting the Town. The Town Clerk shall be appointed without regard to political affiliation and shall serve at the pleasure of the Town Council. The Clerk shall be appointed and may be removed by a simple majority vote of the Council.

The Town Clerk shall:

- a. Keep the records of the Council and perform all duties which are assigned by the Charter or by law.
- b. Maintain the offices and conference rooms of the Town Council.
- c. Provide clerical, secretarial, or administrative assistance to Council committees and advisory boards that function as an extension of the Town Council, either directly or through delegation.
- d. Provide, maintain, and update the office legislative files, committee calendars, and other documents necessary to the conduct of legislative business, and be responsible for all official records of the Legislative branch of Government.
- e. Be the custodian of all Town Council records.
- f. Give notice of Council meetings to its members and the public, keep minutes of its proceedings, and perform such other duties as are assigned by this Charter or the Town Council.

The Town Clerk shall be responsible for all matters of staff support for the Council.

The Town Clerk shall be responsible for the divisions and functions of the office of the Town Clerk and shall exercise direct control and supervision and/or support for all employees and staff of the office of the Town Clerk. The Town Council may appoint an Administrative Assistant to the Town Clerk who shall serve at the pleasure of the Town Clerk and who may be assigned by the Town Clerk to assist Council members individually. The Administrative Assistant to the Town Clerk shall not be in the classified service of the Town and shall not be subject to the civil service laws affecting the Town.

Sec. 3.03. Town Attorney.

There shall be a Town Attorney appointed by the Town Council. The Attorney shall be appointed and may be removed by a simple majority vote of the Council; and, shall be a member in good standing of the Florida Bar. The Town Attorney shall serve as chief legal advisor to the Council, the Mayor, and all town departments, offices, and agencies; shall represent the Town in legal proceedings; and shall perform any other duties prescribed by state law, by this Charter, or by ordinance.

Sec. 3.04. Chief Administrative Officer.

The Mayor shall appoint a Chief Administrative Officer on the basis of education and experience in the accepted practices of local government management. The Town Council shall confirm the appointment. The Chief Administrative Officer will assist the Mayor in carrying out executive responsibilities and will provide central coordination of administrative functions.

ARTICLE IV. FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

Sec. 4.01. Fiscal year.

The fiscal year of the Town shall begin on the first day of October and end on the last day of September.

Sec. 4.02. Submission of budget.

On or before the first day of August of each year, the Mayor shall submit to the Town Council a budget for the ensuing fiscal year and an accompanying message.

Sec. 4.03. Budget message.

The Mayor's budget message shall explain the budget both in fiscal terms and in terms of the work programs, linking those programs to organizational goals and community priorities. It shall outline the proposed financial policies of the Town for the ensuing fiscal year and the impact of those policies on future years. It shall describe the important features of the budget, indicate any major changes from the current year in financial policies, expenditures, and revenues together with the reasons for such changes, summarize the Town's debt position, including factors affecting the ability to raise resources through debt issues, and include such other material as the Mayor deems desirable.

Sec. 4.04. Budget.

The budget shall provide a complete financial plan of all Town funds and activities for the ensuing fiscal year and, except as required by law or this Charter, shall be in such form as the Mayor deems desirable or the Town Council may require for effective management.

Sec. 4.05. Town Council action on budget.

The Town Council shall adopt an annual budget in accordance with all applicable state statutory provisions including but not limited to Sections 166.241, 200.001, 200.065, and 200.068, Florida Statutes, as amended.

Sec. 4.06. Amendments after adoption.

Budget amendments after adoption of an annual budget shall be processed according to Sections 166.241, 200.065, and 218.503, Florida Statutes, as amended.

Sec. 4.07. Administration and fiduciary oversight of the budget.

The Town Council shall provide by Ordinance the procedures for administration and fiduciary oversight of the budget.

Sec. 4.08. Independent audit.

Pursuant to the provisions of Sections 11.45, 119.07, 163.31801, 166.021, 218.39, and 218.391, Florida Statutes, as amended, the Town Council shall provide for an independent annual audit of all Town accounts and may provide for more frequent audits as it deems necessary.

ARTICLE V. ELECTIONS

Sec. 5.01. Nonpartisan elections.

All qualifications and elections for the offices of Town Council and Mayor shall be conducted on a nonpartisan basis without regard for designation of political party affiliation of any candidate, nominee, or any nomination petition or ballot.

Sec. 5.02. Town council seats.

Town council seats are hereby designated as seats 1,2,3,4, and 5 for the purposes of identification. The Mayor shall hold seat 1. Each candidate for the office of council shall declare at the time of qualifications the seat to which such candidate seeks election. No person shall run for more than one council seat in an election. Candidates for Town Council seats shall be elected at large. If more than two candidates qualify for the same seat, the candidate receiving the most votes shall be deemed elected. In the event of a tie vote, such office shall be filled by the drawing of lots among the candidates receiving the same number of votes. Such determination by lot shall be made under the direction of the Town Council in existence prior to the election, no later than seven (7) days after the certification of the election. The candidates shall be notified of the time and place of the drawing of lots and have the right to be present.

Sec. 5.03. Elections.

Town elections shall be conducted in accordance with the general election laws of the State of Florida, Chapters 97—106 Florida Statutes, as amended. Regular town elections shall be held on the first Saturday in March of each election year. All elections will be held in even years except for the first election following the adoption of this revised Charter. In 2017, seats 4 and 5 will be elected for three (3) terms of office, but beginning with the 2020 election and every four (4) years after that, the terms of office for seats 4 and 5 will be four (4) years. Beginning in 2018, and every four (4) years after that, Council seats 1, 2, and 3 will run for election. If a regular election occurs in the same month a Presidential Preference Primary is conducted, the Town Council may choose to hold the Town election on the same date as the primary.

Sec. 5.04. Canvassing board.

A town canvassing board shall be established for the purposes of canvassing ballots and election results. The canvassing board shall be composed of the Town Clerk and two (2) citizens who shall be selected by majority vote of the Town Council at the time the election is called.

Sec. 5.05. Recall.

The registered voters of the Town shall have power to recall elected officials of the Town pursuant to Section 100.361, Florida Statutes, as amended.

Sec. 5.06. Initiative and citizen referendum.

Initiative. The registered voters of the Town shall have power to propose ordinances to the Town Council and, if the Council fails to adopt an ordinance so proposed without any change in substance, to adopt or reject it at

a Town election, but such power shall not extend to the budget or capital program or any ordinance relating to appropriation of money, levy of taxes, or salaries of town officers or employees, or ordinances pertaining to comprehensive planning or zoning.

Citizen referendum. The registered voters of the Town shall have power to require reconsideration by the Council of any adopted ordinance and, if the Council fails to repeal an ordinance so reconsidered, to approve or reject it at a town election, but such power shall not extend to the budget or capital program or any ordinance relating to appropriation of money, levy of taxes or salaries of Town officers or employees, or ordinances pertaining to comprehensive planning or zoning.

- (a) *Commencement of proceeding; petitioners' committee; affidavit.* Any five (5) registered voters may commence initiative or citizen referendum proceedings by filing with the Town Clerk an affidavit stating they will constitute the petitioners' committee and be responsible for circulating the petition and filing it in proper form, stating their names and addresses and specifying the address to which all notices to the committee are to be sent, and setting out in full the proposed initiative ordinance or citing the ordinance sought to be reconsidered.
- (b) *Petitions.*
 - (1) *Number of signatures.* Initiative and citizen referendum petitions must be signed by registered voters of the town equal in number to at least ten percent (10%) of the total number of registered voters as of the last general election.
 - (2) *Form and content.* All papers of a petition shall be uniform in size and style and shall be assembled as one instrument for filing. Each signature shall be executed in ink or indelible pencil and shall be followed by the address of the person signing. Initiative and citizen referendum petitions shall contain or have attached thereto throughout their circulation, the full text of the ordinance proposed or sought to be reconsidered.
 - (3) *Affidavit of circulator.* Each paper of a petition shall have attached to it when filed, an affidavit executed by the person circulating it stating that he or she personally circulated the paper, the number of signatures thereon, that all the signatures were affixed in his or her presence, that he or she believes them to be the genuine signatures of the persons whose names they purport to be and that each signer had an opportunity before signing to read the full text of the ordinance proposed or sought to be reconsidered.
 - (4) *Time for filing referendum petitions.* Referendum petitions must be filed within thirty (30) days after adoption by the Town Council of the ordinance sought to be reconsidered.
- (c) *Procedure after filing.*
 - (1) *Certificate of Clerk; amendment.* Within twenty (20) days after the petition is filed, the Town Clerk, with the assistance of the Supervisor of Elections, shall complete a certificate as to its sufficiency, specifying, if it is insufficient, the particulars wherein it is defective and shall promptly send a copy of the certificate to the petitioners' committee by registered mail. A petition certified insufficient for lack of the required number of valid signatures may be amended once if the petitioners' committee files a notice of intention to amend it with the Clerk within two (2) days after receiving the copy of his or her certificate and files a supplementary petition upon additional papers within ten (10) days after receiving the copy of such certificate. Such supplementary petition shall comply with the requirements of paragraphs (2) and (3) of Section 5.06 (b) above, and within five (5) days after it is filed, the Clerk shall complete a certificate as to the sufficiency of the petition as amended and promptly send a copy of such certificate to the petitioners' committee by registered mail as in the case of an original petition. If a petition or amended petition is certified sufficient, or if a petition or amended petition is certified insufficient and the petitioners' committee does not elect to amend or request Council review

under paragraph (2) of this subsection within the time required, the Clerk shall promptly present his or her certificate to the Council and the certificate shall then be a final determination as to the sufficiency of the petition.

- (2) *Council review.* If a petition has been certified insufficient and the petitioners' committee does not file notice of intention to amend it or if an amended petition has been certified insufficient, the committee may, within two (2) days after receiving the copy of such certificate, file a request that it be reviewed by the Council. The Council shall review the certificate at its next meeting following the filing of such request and approve or disapprove it, and the Council's determination shall then be a final determination as to the sufficiency of the petition.
 - (3) *Court review; new petition.* A final determination as to the sufficiency of a petition shall be subject to court review. A final determination of insufficiency even if sustained upon court review, shall not prejudice the filing of a new petition for the same purpose.
- (d) *Referendum petitions; suspension of effect of ordinance.* When a referendum petition is filed with the Town Clerk, the ordinance sought to be reconsidered shall be suspended from taking effect. Such suspension shall terminate when:
- (1) There is a final determination of insufficiency of the petition;
 - (2) The petitioners' committee withdraws the petition;
 - (3) The Council repeals the ordinance; or
 - (4) Thirty (30) days have elapsed after a vote of the Town on the ordinance.
- (e) *Actions on petitions.*
- (1) *Action by Council.* When an initiative or referendum petition has been finally determined sufficient, the Council shall promptly consider the proposed initiative ordinance in the manner provided in Article II of this Charter or reconsider the referred ordinance by voting its repeal. If the Council fails to adopt a proposed initiative ordinance without any change in substance within sixty (60) days or fails to repeal the referred ordinance within sixty (60) days after the date the petition was finally determined sufficient, it shall submit the proposed or referred ordinance to the voters of the Town.
 - (2) *Submission to voters of proposed or referred ordinances.* The vote of the Town on a proposed or referred ordinance shall be held not less than thirty (30) days and not later than one year from the date of the final Council vote thereon. If no regular town election is to be held within the period prescribed in this subsection, the Council shall provide for a special election; otherwise, the vote shall be held at the same time as such regular election, except that the Council may in its discretion provide for a special election at an earlier date within the prescribed period. Copies of the proposed or referred ordinance shall be made available at the polls.
 - (3) *Withdrawal of petitions.* An initiative or referendum petition may be withdrawn at any time prior to the fifteenth day preceding the day scheduled for a vote of the town by filing with the Town Clerk a request for withdrawal signed by at least two-thirds of the petitioners' committee. Upon the filing of such request, the petition shall have no further force or effect and all proceedings thereon shall be terminated.
- (f) *Results of election.*
- (1) *Initiative.* If a majority of the voters voting on a proposed initiative ordinance vote in its favor, it shall be considered adopted upon certification of the election results and shall be treated in all respects in the same manner as ordinances of the same kind adopted by the Council. If

conflicting ordinances are approved at the same election, the one receiving the greatest number of affirmative votes shall prevail to the extent of such conflict.

- (2) *Referendum*. If a majority of the registered voters on a referred ordinance vote against it, it shall be considered repealed upon certification of the election results.

ARTICLE VI. CHARTER AMENDMENTS

Sec. 6.01. Amendment.

Amendments to this Charter may be framed and proposed pursuant to Section 166.031 Florida Statutes, as amended.

Sec. 6.02. Charter review.

There shall be a periodic review of this Charter by a Charter review advisory committee appointed by the Town Council in 2024 and every eight (8) years thereafter.

ARTICLE VII. TRANSITION AND SEVERABILITY

Sec. 7.01. General law.

All Town Ordinances, Resolutions, orders and regulations which are in force when this Charter becomes fully effective are repealed to the extent that they are inconsistent or interfere with the effective operation of this Charter or of ordinances or resolutions adopted pursuant thereto.

Sec. 7.02. Severability.

If any provision of this Charter is held invalid, the other provisions of the Charter shall not be affected. If the application of the Charter or any of its provisions to any person or circumstance is held invalid, the application of the Charter and its provisions to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected.